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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Burns Flat, Oklahoma  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the South Western Oklahoma Development 
Authority (the Authority) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Authority as of June 30, 2024, and 
the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are required to be 
independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
The Authority’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the 
Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial 
statements are issued. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:  
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit.  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks.  Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.  
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit.  
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Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and other analysis as listed in the table of contents be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Supplementary Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements.  The other supplementary 
information, schedule of expenditures of state awards, and schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 
 
The other supplementary information, schedule of expenditure of state awards, and schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements. 
 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
November 12, 2024, on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial 
reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts 
and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
Tulsa, Oklahoma 
November 12, 2024 
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The  following  discussion  and  analysis  of  South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s 
(SWODA) financial performance provides an overview of SWODA’s financial activities for the year 
ended June 30, 2024.  Please read it in conjunction with SWODA’s financial statements. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
 

 The assets of SWODA exceeded  its  liabilities at the close of the year by $4,225,106 
(net position).   Of this amount, $2,564,824  (unrestricted net position) may be used to 
meet the government’s ongoing obligations to members and creditors. 
 
 As of the close of the current year SWODA’s governmental funds reported ending fund 
balance  of  $2,198,303.    Approximately  $2,158,348  is  available  for  spending  at  the 
government’s discretion (assigned and unassigned fund balance). 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to SWODA’s basic financial 
statements.  SWODA’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government‐
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.  
This  report  also  contains  other  supplementary  information  in  addition  to  the  basic  financial 
statements. 
 
This discussion and analysis of SWODA’s annual audited financial statements is required by the 
Governmental  Accounting  Standards  Board  (GASB),  Statement  No.  34.    The  intent  of  this 
discussion is to give management’s view and analysis of significant financial activities affecting 
the  government during  the  fiscal  year,  along with  comparative  analysis of  the  government’s 
financial activities from prior years.   
 
Government‐wide financial statements 
 
The government‐wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad view of 
SWODA’s finances, in a manner similar to a private‐sector business. 
 
The Statement of Net Position 
 
The statement of net position presents  information on all SWODA’s assets and  liabilities, with 
the difference between the two reported as net position.  You can think of SWODA’s net position 
as  one way  to measure  the  government’s  financial  health,  or  financial  position.   Over  time, 
increases or decreases in the government’s net position are one indicator of whether its financial 
health  is  improving  or  deteriorating.    You will  need  to  consider  other  non‐financial  factors, 
however, such as changes in Federal or State funding formulas, changes in law, stature of elected 
officials, and the health of  local, state, and  federal economies, to assess the overall health of 
SWODA. 
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The Statement of Activities 
 
The statement of activities presents  information showing how SWODA’s net position changed 
during the fiscal year.   All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are taken  into account 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.  Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this 
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., accounts 
receivable and earned but unused vacation leave).  
 
In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, we divide the financial activities 
of SWODA into two types: 
 
Governmental  activities—Most  of  SWODA’s  basic  services  and  programs  are  reported  here, 
including  General  Government,  Substance  Use  Prevention  Treatment  and  Recovery,  Aging 
Services, Economic and Community Development, Public Safety, and Transportation Planning.  
Contracts with members and other governmental entities, as well as state and federal grants, 
finance most of these activities. 
 
Business‐type activities—SWODA  charges  fees  to non‐members  (customers)  for  services and 
facilities  to  help  cover  all  or  a  part  of  the  cost  of  providing  those  services  and maintaining 
facilities.  SWODA’s housing construction operation is included in these activities.  
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have 
been  segregated  for  specific  activities  or  objectives.    SWODA,  like  other  state  and  local 
governments,  uses  fund  accounting  to  ensure  and  demonstrate  compliance  with  funding 
restrictions and other legal requirements.  All of the funds of SWODA can be divided into three 
categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental  funds—Most of  SWODA’s basic  services  are  reported  in  governmental  funds, 
which focus on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year‐end 
that are available for spending.  The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short‐term 
view of SWODA’s general operations and the basic services  it provides.   Because the  focus of 
governmental  funds  is narrower  than  that of  the government‐wide  financial  statements,  it  is 
useful  to  compare  the  information  presented  with  similar  information  presented  for 
governmental activities in the government‐wide financial statements.  By doing so, readers may 
better understand the long‐term impact of the government’s short‐term financial decisions.  The 
governmental  fund  balance  sheet  and  the  governmental  fund  statement  of  revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison 
between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
SWODA maintains numerous  individual governmental  funds; however, data  from  the various 
governmental  funds  are  combined  into  a  single,  aggregated  presentation.    Information  is 
presented  for  the  combined  funds  in  the  governmental  fund  balance  sheet  and  in  the 
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances.  Analysis 
of some significant  individual fund data for these governmental funds  is provided  later  in this 
report. 
 
Proprietary funds—Enterprise funds (a component of proprietary funds) are used to report the 
same  functions  presented  as  business‐type  activities  in  the  government‐wide  financial 
statements.  SWODA uses enterprise funds to account for its housing construction operation. 
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The Organization as a Whole 
 
Net Position 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over  time as a useful  indicator of SWODA’s  financial 
position.   For  the year ended  June 30, 2024, SWODA’s net position  increased by $389,796  to 
$4,225,106.    Governmental  Activities  net  position  increased  due  to  the  addition  of  several 
additional  contracts  and  the  organization  staying  within  operating  budgets.    Business‐Type 
activities net position decreased due to a pause in construction for economic reasons.   
  
Current assets (see Table 1) contain $3,183,857 of Rural Economic Action Plan funds which have 
been awarded, but for which projects are not yet completed.  Deferred revenues, related to these 
same REAP funds, of $2,985,933 are shown (Table 1) in current liabilities.  
 

Table 1 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s Net Position 

June 30, 2024 
              

 Governmental Activities  Business‐Type Activities  Totals  

 2024   2023  2024   2023  2024   2023  

                   

Current assets  $5,760,044  $5,009,523   $              97   $              46   $5,760,141   $5,009,569  

Capital and other 1,620,327 1,665,935 107,447 107,447     1,727,774      1,773,382  

        Total assets 7,380,371  6,675,458  107,544  107,493  7,487,915  6,782,951  

Deferred outflows 620,082  795,898  633  642  620,715  796,540  

                  

Current liabilities 3,807,518  3,662,157  36,736  30,089  3,844,254  3,692,246  

Long‐term liabilities ‐   ‐   ‐  ‐                    ‐                    ‐  

        Total liabilities 3,807,518  3,662,157  36,736  30,089  3,844,254  3,692,246  

Deferred inflows 39,230  51,893  40  42  39,270  51,935  
              

 

Net position:            
 

    Net investment in     
 

 
 ‐   

 
 

  
        capital assets 1,620,327  1,665,935                    ‐  1,620,327 1,665,935  

    Restricted 39,955  12,134                     ‐                      ‐   39,955  12,134  

    Unrestricted 
2,493,423  2,079,237  

 
           71,401   

 
78,004   2,564,824  2,157,241 

 

        Total net position 
 $4,153,705   $3,757,306   $      71,401    $      78,004    $4,225,106   $3,835,310 
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Unrestricted  net  position  –  the  part  of  net  position  that  can  be  used  to  finance  day‐to‐day 
operations  without  constraints  established  by  debt  covenants,  legislation,  or  other  legal 
restrictions total $2,493,423.  An additional portion of SWODA’s net position $39,955 represents 
resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.  These restrictions 
apply to governmental activities such as the Rural Economic Action Plan, and other grant‐based 
programs in which SWODA participates. 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2024, net position  increased by $396,399 to $4,153,705.   Table 2 
illustrates  the  change  in net position due  to  governmental  activities.    SWODA’s  three major 
governmental programs are displayed to provide additional detail for analysis. 
 

Table 2 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s 

Governmental Activities 
June 30, 2024 

Governmental Activities 

 Transportation  Aging  Community  All Other   
 Planning  Services  Development  Government  Total 

Program revenues:              

    Charges for services   $                       ‐  $                       ‐   $             109,597  $         1,305,313  $         1,414,910 
     Grants/contributions     634,675  1,526,840    2,474,482        1,180,074          5,816,071 

 General revenues   ‐   ‐    ‐   13,636                  13,636 

        Total revenues           634,675  1,526,840            2,584,079            2,499,023            7,244,617 

          

Expenses:          
  Program expenses              676,156  1,538,845             2,535,240             2,320,236             7,070,477 

        Total expenses              676,156  1,538,845             2,535,240  2,320,236             7,070,477 

          

Changes in net position:          
    Net increase or 

(decrease)  $         ( 41,481)    $            (12,005)   $             48,839    $            178,787   $            174,140 
 
 

 

SWODA’s Aging Services activities consist of two programs, Area Agency on Aging, and the CENA 
program.   During the current year, the ($12,005) decrease  in net position for Aging services  is 
due to required match.  The loss in Aging services is funded with local unrestricted funds from 
General  Government  (matching  revenue  is  reflected  under  General  revenues  in  'All  of 
Governments' Activities). 
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Transportation Planning activities during  the year decreased net position by  ($41,481) due  to 
required match that is funded with local unrestricted funds from General Government (matching 
revenue is reflected under General revenues in 'All of Governments' Activities). 
 
Community development activities increased net position as of June 30, 2024, by $48,839, mostly 
due to results of operations in contracted services.  
 
All other government activities increase net position by $178,787.  The increase is mostly due to 
contracted activities such as Advantage Case Management and other contracted services.   
 
Business‐type Activities 
 
The Statement of Activities shows an overall loss of $6,603 in net position for the period.  The 
decrease is due to maintenance on other lots held for sale. 
   
Fund Balance 
 
The  Statement  of  Revenues,  Expenses,  and  Changes  in  Fund  Balance—Governmental  Funds 
shows SWODA’s total governmental fund balance increased by $396,399 since last year due to 
addition of new contracts, rate increases, and completion of projects. 
 
Budgetary Highlights  
 
As  directed  by  Title  60, Oklahoma  Statutes,  Sections  176  et  seq.  SWODA  (a  public  trust)  is 
required  to  report,  at  least  annually,  the  budget  and  financial  condition  of  the  trust  to  its 
beneficiaries.   SWODA’s by‐laws require  that staff “… annually prepare a budget  for effective 
operation  of  the  Authority  and  submit  it  for  approval  of  the  Trustees.”   Neither Oklahoma 
Statutes nor the trust by‐laws require a legally binding budget; SWODA’s budget is intended to 
be a guide for management of the trust to follow during day‐to‐day operations.  
 
SWODA’s budgetary process includes various stages.  Budgets for most federal and state grants 
or  contracts must be  approved by  the  governmental  agency providing  funding  regardless of 
board approval.  Grant and contract budgets follow award periods, not necessarily the same as 
SWODA’s fiscal year.  Management develops annual budgets (and amendments) by department 
by grouping related grants and contracts  for approval by the board of trustees.   Staff reports 
financial activity with budgetary comparisons monthly to the board of trustees.  
 
Compilation  of  SWODA’s  budget  is  based  on  management  design  of  the  Authority  (by 
department) and does not necessarily  follow a GASB 34 categorization.   Due to the nature of 
SWODA’s budgetary process and the complexity of the numerous budget periods, a complete 
budgetary comparison of SWODA is confusing and of little significance in evaluating the financial 
management of the trust.  All major revisions or variations made to the general government and 
indirect  allocation  budgets  during  the  year  are  approved  by  the  board  of  trustees  and 
documented in the minutes of the trust. 
 
Capital asset information 
 
As of June 30, 2024, SWODA had $1,620,327 invested in capital assets, which is a net decrease 
from the previous year balance of $1,665,935 due primarily to the depreciation of assets.  
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Debt administration 
 
SWODA had no debt outstanding during the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
Economic factors and funding dependence 
 
SWODA has an inherent dependency on State and Federal funding.  As noted previously in this 
discussion,  the  State  and  Federal  economies  influence  SWODA’s  overall  health.    Revenue 
shortfalls and subsequent budget reductions pose a risk to SWODA’s various government funded 
grants and contracts.   Management has  tried  to mitigate  this  risk by building an unrestricted 
reserve of $2,564,824 and investing resources into strong local programs.  
 
Contacting SWODA’s Financial Management 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our members, district residents, government agencies, 
customers  and  creditors with  a  general overview of  South Western Oklahoma Development 
Authority’s finances and to show SWODA’s accountability for the money it receives.  If you have 
questions  about  this  report  or  need  additional  financial  information,  contact  the  SWODA 
Administration office at Building 420 Sooner Drive, Post Office Box 569, Burns Flat, Oklahoma, 
73624 or telephone us at 580‐562‐4882. 
 
 
 
Susan Featherston/ Director of Finance 
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Assets
Cash $ 457,269          $ -                      $ 457,269          
Investments 3,975,038       -                      3,975,038       
Accounts receivable 1,175,575       -                      1,175,575       
Due from other fund 34,213            -                      34,213            
Prepaid expenses 22,820            -                      22,820            
Net OPEB asset 95,129            97                   95,226            
Assets held for sale -                      107,447          107,447          
Capital assets, net 1,620,327       -                      1,620,327       

Total Assets 7,380,371       107,544          7,487,915       

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amounts from pensions 583,656          596                 584,252          
Deferred amounts from OPEB 36,426            37                   36,463            

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 620,082          633                 620,715          

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expense 453,042          2,175              455,217          
Due to other fund -                      34,213            34,213            
Unearned revenue 3,013,570       -                      3,013,570       
Net pension liabilities 340,906          348                 341,254          

Total Liabilities 3,807,518       36,736            3,844,254       

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amounts from pensions 5,164              5                     5,169              
Deferred amounts from OPEB 34,066            35                   34,101            

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 39,230            40                   39,270            

Net Position
Net Investment in capital assets 1,620,327       -                      1,620,327       
Restricted for:

      Expendable 39,955            -                      39,955            
Unrestricted 2,493,423       71,401            2,564,824       

Total Net Position $ 4,153,705       $ 71,401            $ 4,225,106       

Total
Business - Type 

Activities
Government 

Activities

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority

2024

June 30, 2024
Statement of Net Position

See Note to the Financial Statements. 5



Government activities
General government $ 1,216,320       $ 1,305,313       $ 13,636            $ -                      $ 102,629          $ -                      $ 102,629          
Aging Services 1,538,845       -                      1,526,840       -                      (12,005)           -                      (12,005)           
Transportation Planning 676,156          -                      634,675          -                      (41,481)           -                      (41,481)           
Economic development 111,145          -                      71,447            -                      (39,698)           -                      (39,698)           
Community services 992,771          -                      1,108,627       -                      115,856          -                      115,856          
Community development 2,535,240       109,597          2,474,482       -                      48,839            -                      48,839            

Total Government Activities 7,070,477       1,414,910       5,829,707       -                      174,140          -                      174,140          

Business-type activities
Housing development 6,603              -                      -                      -                      -                      (6,603)             (6,603)             

Total business-type activities 6,603              -                      -                      -                      -                      (6,603)             (6,603)             

Total Activities $ 7,077,080       $ 1,414,910       $ 5,829,707       $ -                      174,140          (6,603)             167,537          

General revenues (expenses):
  Interest Income 129,073          -                      129,073          
  Other Income 93,186            -                      93,186            
      Total general revenues 222,259          -                      222,259          

Change in Net Assets 396,399          (6,603)             389,796          

Net Position, Beginning of Year 3,757,306       78,004            3,835,310       

Net Position, End of Year $ 4,153,705       $ 71,401            $ 4,225,106       

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Charges for 
Services

Program 
Expenses

Net Revenue (Expense) 
Program Revenues

Total
Business-Type 

Activities
Government 

Activities

Capital Grants 
and 

Contributions

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions

and Changes in Net Position

See Notes to the Financial Statements. 6



Assets
Cash $ 320,248          $ (52,000)           $ 1,013              $ 124,700          $ (1,012)             $ 64,320            $ 457,269          
Investments 852,011          -                      2,955,572       167,455          -                      -                      3,975,038       
Accounts receivable 249,196          275,063          227,272          -                      5,716              418,328          1,175,575       
Prepaid expense 22,820            -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      22,820            
Due from other fund 34,213            -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      34,213            

Total Assets $ 1,478,488       $ 223,063          $ 3,183,857       $ 292,155          $ 4,704              $ 482,648          $ 5,664,915       

Liabilities
Accounts payable

       and Accrued exp. $ 43,639            $ 223,063          $ 52,311            $ 1,309              $ 4,704              $ 128,016          $ 453,042          
Due to other fund -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Unearned revenue 27,637            -                      2,985,933       -                      -                      -                      3,013,570       

Total Liabilities 71,276            223,063          3,038,244       1,309              4,704              128,016          3,466,612       

Fund Balance
Nonspendable -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Restricted -                      -                      39,955            -                      -                      -                      39,955            
Assigned -                      -                      -                      287,366          -                      354,632          641,998          
Unassigned 1,407,212       -                      105,658          3,480              -                      -                      1,516,350       
Total Fund Balance 1,407,212       -                      145,613          290,846          -                      354,632          2,198,303       

Total Liabilities and 
Fund Balance $ 1,478,488       $ 223,063          $ 3,183,857       $ 292,155          $ 4,704              $ 482,648          $ 5,664,915       

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

June 30, 2024

Total 
Governmental 

Funds

Other 
Governmental 

Funds
Economic 

DevelopmentCDBG
Rural Economic 

Action Plan
Area Agency    

on AgingGeneral Funds

See Notes to the Financial Statements. 7



Revenues
General 
Funds

Area Agency 
on Aging

Rural 
Economic 

Action Plan CDBG
Economic 

Development

Other 
Governmental 

Funds

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
Federal grants $ -                      $ 731,993          $ -                      $ -                      $ 71,447            $ 1,043,302         $ 1,846,742         
State grants and
appropriations 13,636            624,209          2,374,482       -                      -                      970,638            3,982,965         

Local charges and
services 1,244,879       -                      -                      -                      -                      650                   1,245,529         

Members’ dues and
Assessments 60,434            -                      -                      39,447            -                      69,500              169,381            

Interest revenue 12,600            -                      116,473          -                      -                      -                        129,073            
Match revenue -                      11,786            -                      -                      39,698            41,700              93,184              

Total Revenues 1,331,549       1,367,988       2,490,955       39,447            111,145          2,125,790         7,466,874         

Expenses
Salaries 474,241          125,788          57,235            17,354            59,352            507,277            1,241,247         
Taxes and fringe benefits 211,394          53,200            24,050            7,818              25,553            225,887            547,902            
Indirect costs 164,521          42,957            19,451            6,041              20,320            175,883            429,173            
Travel 32,109            12,655            3,656              3,189              2,472              57,895              111,976            
Other expense 151,879          10,055            7,293              1,565              3,448              760,283            934,523            
Program costs 182,086          48,173            -                      -                      -                      -                        230,259            
Pass-through grants -                      1,075,160       2,273,612       -                      -                      226,535            3,575,307         

Total Expenses 1,216,230       1,367,988       2,385,297       35,967            111,145          1,953,760         7,070,387         

Net Change in Fund
Balances 115,319          -                      105,658          3,480              -                      172,030            396,487            

Fund Balances,
Beginning of Year 1,291,893       -                      39,955            287,366          -                      182,602            1,801,816         

Fund Balances,
End of Year $ 1,407,212       $ -                      $ 145,613          $ 290,846          $ -                      $ 354,632            $ 2,198,303         

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
and Changes in Fund Balance

Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority

See Notes to the Financial Statements. 8



Reconciliation of the Government Funds Balance 
Sheet to the Statement of Net Assets
Total fund balances - governmental funds $ 2,198,303       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net 
 Assets are different because:
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 1,620,327       
Net OPEB asset 95,129            
Pension related deferred outflows 583,656          
OPEB related deferred outflows 36,426            

Liabilities are not due and payable in the current period, and
therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the funds.  

Net pension liabilities (340,906)         
   Pension related deferred inflows (5,164)             
   OPEB related deferred inflows (34,066)           

Net assets of governmental activities $ 4,153,705       

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in fund Balance of
Governmental funds to the Statement of Activities
Net change in fund balance - governmental funds $ 396,487          

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of
     Activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays and issue costs as
expenditures, while governmental activities report depreciation
and amortization expense to allocate those expenditures over the 
life of the assets:
Capital asset purchases capitalized 104,627          
Depreciation expense (149,635)         
Capital asset disposition, net (600)                

Some expense in the statement of activities do not require the use 
of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in
government funds
Pension related expenses, net change 12,970            
OPEB related expenses, net change 32,550            

Change in Net Assets - governmental activities $ 396,399          

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Reconciliation of Governmental Funds and

Government-wide Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

See Notes to the Financial Statements. 9



Assets
Cash $ -                      
Assets held for sale 107,447          
Net OPEB asset 97                   

Total Assets 107,544          

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amounts related to pension 596                 
Deferred amounts related to OPEB 37                   

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 633                 

Liabilities
Accounts payable 174                 
Deposits held 2,001              
Net pension liabilities 348
Due to other fund 34,213            

Total Liabilities 36,736            

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amounts related to pension 5                     
Deferred amounts related to OPEB 35                   

Total Deferred Inflows 40                   

Net Position
Unrestricted 71,401            

           Total Net Position $ 71,401            

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2024

2024

See Notes to the Financial Statements. 10



Operating Revenues
Sales $ -                      

Total Operating Revenues -                      

Operating Expenses
Housing development 5,336              
Indirect costs 505                 
Travel 676                 
Other expense 86                   

Total Operating Expenses 6,603              

Changes in Net Position (6,603)             

Transfers -                      

Net Position, Beginning of Year 78,004            

Net Position, End of Year $ 71,401            

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

2024

See Notes to the Financial Statements. 11



Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Operating Income $ (6,603)             
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Changes in:
Net OPEB asset (51)                  
Accounts payable & accrued liability 128                 
Due to other fund 6,583              
Net pension liability (64)                  
Deferred Inflows/Outflows related to pension 7                     

Net cash used in operating activities -                      

Net Change in Cash -                      

Cash, Beginning of Year -                      

Cash, End of Year $ -                      

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

2024

See Notes to the Financial Statements. 12



Assets
Cash $ -                      
Total Assets -                      

Liabilities
Accounts payable -                      
Total Liabilities -                      

Total Net Position $ -                      

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Statement of Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2024

2024

See Notes to the Financial Statements. 13



South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 
 
 

14 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Reporting Entity 
 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority (the Authority) was created as a public trust 
under an indenture dated December 29, 1970, under the provisions of Title 60-05 1961 of the 
Oklahoma Trust Act, the Inter-Local Cooperation Act of the State of Oklahoma; Title 74 
Oklahoma Statutes, Supplement 1970, Section 1004(F) and other applicable statutes and laws 
of the State of Oklahoma.  Its main offices are located in Burns Flat, Oklahoma.  The Authority 
provides a practical and organized means by which government units and public agencies with 
the District: Roger Mills, Custer, Beckham, Washita, Greer, Kiowa, Harmon and Jackson 
counties; may cooperate and coordinate their efforts to provide services, planning and facilities 
for their population. 
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned 
and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash 
flows.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  Membership dues are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are due. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as 
soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of 
the current period.  For this purpose, the Authority considers revenues to be available if they are 
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service 
expenditures and expenditures related to compensated absences are recorded only when 
payment is due. 
 
Interest associated with the current fiscal period is all considered to be susceptible to accrual 
and it has been recognized as revenue of the current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the Authority. 
 
The Authority reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
General Fund - The General Fund is the Authority’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all 
financial resources, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Area Agency on Aging Fund - The Area Agency on Aging Fund reports the activities related to a 
grant from the Oklahoma Department of Human Services for the aging services programs.  It 
accounts for revenues from federal and state sources and the expenditures thereof related only 
to that grant. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
Enhanced 911 Fund - The enhanced 911 fund reports activities related to a contract with the 
Southwest Regional 911 Association. 
 
Advantage Case Management Fund - The Advantage Case Management Fund accounts for 
revenues received from the Oklahoma Health Care Authority for a fee for service. 
 
Rural Economic Action Plan Fund - The Rural Economic Action Plan Fund reports the activity 
related to grants from the Oklahoma Department of Commerce for the REAP program.  This 
fund accounts for revenues and related pass-through expenditures to member communities for 
specific projects. 
 
The other governmental funds account for revenues received from federal and state grants and 
contracts and the expenditures, thereof, as governmental funds.  Grant and contract revenues 
and expenditures are segregated in the general ledger accounting system. 
 
The Authority reports the following major proprietary fund: 
 

 Housing development fund accounts for the construction of housing for sale in member 
communities. 

 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements.  Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers 
or applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions 
and 3) capital grants and contributions.  Internally dedicated resources are reported as general 
revenues rather than as program revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all interest. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is SWODA’s policy to 
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The 
principal operating revenues of the enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and 
services.  Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost of 
sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues 
and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
Discretely Presented Component Unit 
 
The accompanying financial statements present the Authority’s operations.  The Authority does 
not have any component units, entities for which the Authority is considered to be financially 
accountable.  The Authority is not a component unit or part of any other primary government for 
financial reporting purposes.  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement 
of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and 
its component units.  For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from 
these statements.  Governmental activities which normally are supported by intergovernmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent 
on fees and charges for support. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which direct and allocated indirect 
expenses of given functions or segments are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are 
those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 
1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, 
services or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions 
that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or 
segment.  Other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as 
general revenues. 
 
Separate fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds and fiduciary funds, 
even though the latter is excluded from the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial 
statements.  
 
Deposits and Investments 
 
The Authority’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand 
deposits and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition. 
 
State statutes authorize the Authority to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury; time deposits 
with financial institutions, if such deposits are fully insured by federal depository insurance or 
pledged collateral; and debt securities issued by the State of Oklahoma, an Oklahoma county, 
school district or municipality. 
 
Investments for the Authority are reported at fair value. 
 
Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables 
 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at 
the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either due to/from other funds (i.e., the current 
portion of interfund loans).  Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental 
activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements 
as “internal balances.”  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables (Continued) 
 
Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial statements are offset by a fund 
balance reserve account in applicable governmental funds to indicate that they are not available 
for appropriation and are not expendable, available financial resources. 
 
All trade receivables are shown net of allowance for uncollectibles, if applicable. 
 
Prepaid Items 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets, which include buildings and improvements, vehicles, and equipment, are 
reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide financial statements.  
Capital assets are defined by the Authority as assets with an initial, individual cost of $1,000 or 
more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  Such assets are recorded at historical 
cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market 
value at the date of donation. 
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend assets lives are not capitalized. 
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful 
lives: 
 

Assets Years
Buildings and Improvements 20
Equipment and Furniture 5-10
Computer Equipment and Software 3-10

 
Compensated Absences 
 
The Authority’s policies permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation benefits.  
All vacation accumulated is reported when incurred in the governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. 
 
Long-Term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements, long-
term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund statement of net position.  
In the governmental fund financial statements, the proceeds of long-term debt are reported as 
other financing sources and the debt principal and interest payments as fund expenditures.  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources 
 
The financial statements may contain separate sections, in addition to assets, liabilities and net 
position, for deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources.  These separate 
elements represent a consumption (deferred outflow) or acquisition (deferred inflow) of net 
position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow or inflow of 
resources until that time. 
 
Fund Balances and Net Position 
 
Fund balances - Governmental fund balances are classified as nonspendable, restricted, 
committed, assigned and unassigned as follows: 
 

Nonspendable - Includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (1) not in 
spendable form or (2) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted - Consists of fund balance with constraints placed on the use of resources either 
by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments, or (2) laws through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed - Includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 
constraints imposed by formal action of the entity’s highest level of decision-making authority. 
 
Assigned - Includes amounts that are constrained by the entity’s intent to be used for specific 
purposes but are neither restricted nor committed.  Assignments of fund balance may be 
made by the board of trustees’ action or management decision when the board has 
designated that authority. 
 
Unassigned - Represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and has 
not been restricted, committed or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. 

 
It is the Authority’s policy to first use restricted fund balance prior to the use of unrestricted fund 
balance when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted 
fund balance are available.  The entity’s policy for the use of unrestricted fund balance amounts 
require that committed amounts would be reduced first, followed by assigned amounts and then 
unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amount in any of 
those unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used. 
 
Net Position - Net positions are displayed in three components as follows: 
 

Net Investment in Capital Assets - Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by outstanding balances of any debt or other borrowings that 
are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of the assets. 
 
Restricted - Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by 1) 
external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other 
governments, or 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Fund Balances and Net Position (Continued) 
 

Unrestricted - All other net position that does not meet the definitions of “net investment 
in capital assets” or “restricted.” 

 
It is the Authority’s policy to first use restricted net position prior to the use of unrestricted net 
position when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net 
position are available. 
 
Allocation of Employee Benefits and Indirect Costs 
 
The Authority’s employee benefits and indirect costs are allocated based upon actual 
expenditures to all grants in accordance with Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, (2) C.F.R. Part 200.  The Authority’s employee benefits 
are allocated to grants and other projects as a percentage of direct labor costs.  Indirect costs 
necessary to sustain overall operations are allocated as a percentage of total direct labor costs 
charged to grants and other projects. 
 
Budgetary Information 
 
The Authority operates each grant program under a budget approved by the funding agency.  
Not all grant periods coincide with the fiscal year of the Authority.  As such, an overall budget to 
actual comparison has not been presented for the governmental funds. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through November 12, 2024, the date which the 
financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
 
Note 2: Deposits and Investments 
 
Deposits 
The Authority’s carrying amount of deposits was $457,269 as of June 30, 2024 and the bank 
balances totaled $621,499.  Deposits are carried at cost.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Authority’s deposits may 
not be returned to it.  The Authority does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk.  As of 
June 30, 2024, all of the Authority’s bank balances of $621,499 were FDIC insured or 
collateralized by pledges from the banks. 
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Note 2: Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
 
Investments 
As of June 30, 2024, the Authority had the following investments. 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
The Authority does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a 
means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
 
Credit Risk 
State statutes limit investments to the following: a) direct obligations of the U.S. Government, its 
agencies or instrumentalities; b) collateralized or insured certificates of deposit within the state 
and insured certificates only if out of state; c) savings accounts or savings certificates; d) fully 
collateralized prime banker acceptances, prime commercial paper, repurchase agreements, or 
SEC regulated money market funds; e) obligations to the payment of which the full faith and 
credit of the state is pledged; f) county, municipal or school district and valorem tax funded debt; 
g) bonds, notes or money judgments of a county, municipality or school district; h) revenue 
anticipation notes of a public trust of which the municipality is beneficiary; or i) any bond, note or 
other debt of any public trust of which the municipality is sole beneficiary or other entities whose 
governing boards were appointed by the municipality.  The Authority has no investment policy 
that would further limit its investment choices.  As of June 30, 2024, the Authority’s investments 
in certificates of deposit were all federally insured. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
The Authority places no limit on the amount it may invests in any one issuer.  More than 5% of 
The Authority’s investments are in certificates of deposit.  These investments are 100% of the 
Authority’s total investments. 
 

Maturities
Certificates of Deposits < 1 Year $ 3,975,038    
Total $ 3,975,038    

Investments Fair Value
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Note 3: Receivables 
 
Accounts Receivable 
Receivables as of June 30, 2024, for the South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s 
individual major funds, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as 
follows: 
 

 
Note 4: Other Receivables 
 
Interfund receivable, payables and transfers 
 
The composition of interfund balances as of June 30, 2024 is as follows: 
 

 
Note 5: Capital Assets 
 
Capital asset balances and activities for the year ended June 30, 2024, were as follows: 
 

Payable Fund
Business Enterprise Fund $ 34,213         

Receivable Fund
General Fund

2024

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings, land & improvements $ 2,920,879    $ 70,000         $ -                   $ -                   $ 2,990,879    
Equipment & furniture 122,643       1,490           (2,350)          -                   121,783       
Vehicles 157,801       -                   -                   -                   157,801       
Computer equipment & software 158,936       33,137         -                   192,073       
Total capital assets, being depreciated 3,360,259    104,627       (2,350)          -                   3,462,536    

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings, land & improvements (1,474,733)   (103,842)      1,750           -                   (1,576,825)   
Equipment & furniture (71,005)        (4,401)          -                   -                   (75,406)        
Vehicles (22,543)        (22,543)        -                   -                   (45,086)        
Computer equipment & software (126,043)      (18,849)        -                   -                   (144,892)      
Total accumulated depreciation (1,694,324)   (149,635)      1,750           -                   (1,842,209)   

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 1,665,935    $ (45,008)        $ (600)             $ -                   $ 1,620,327    

IncreasesBalance
Beginning  Ending 

BalanceTransferDecreases 

Receivables:
Accounts receivable $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ -                    $ -                   
Due from other
governments 250,996       275,063       227,272       -                   5,716           418,328        1,177,375    

Less:  Allowance for
uncollectible (1,800)          -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    (1,800)          

Net Total receivables $ 249,196       $ 275,063       $ 227,272       $ -                   $ 5,716           $ 418,328        $ 1,175,575    

Other 
GovernmentalEconomicArea AgencyGeneral

Funds on Aging Action Plan CDBG Development Funds Total

Rural
Economic
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Note 5: Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2024 was charged to functions/programs of 
the primary government as follows: 
 

 
Note 6: Long-Term Liabilities 
 
Unearned Revenue 
 
Unearned revenues represent advances on grants or contracts which have not been expended.  
Unearned revenues for the years ended June 30, 2024, totaled $3,013,570 and included the 
following: 
 

Long-Term Debt 
 
As of June 30, 2024, the Authority did not have any outstanding debt. 
 

Governmental activities:
General government $ 149,635       

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 149,635       

2024

REAP funds
2022 REAP Funds $ 39,745         
2023 REAP Funds 377,816       
2024 REAP Funds 2,478,303    
REAP Planning Funds 90,069         
Total REAP Funds 2,985,933    

Masonic Foundation Grant 27,637         

Total Deferred Revenue $ 3,013,570    

2024
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Note 7: Retirement Plans 
 
Plan description 
 
The Authority as the employer, participates in Oklahoma Public Employees Retirement Plan a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Oklahoma 
Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS).  Title 74 of the Oklahoma State Statutes grants 
the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the OPERS.  OPERS issues a publicly 
available financial report that can be obtained at www.opers.ok.gov. 
 
Benefits provided  
 
OPERS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to members of the plan.  
 
Members qualify for full retirement benefits at their specified normal retirement age or, for any 
person who became a member prior to July 1, 1992, when the sum of the member’s age and 
years of credited service equals or exceeds 80 (Rule of 80) and for any person who became a 
member after June 30, 1992, when the member’s age and years of credited service equals or 
exceeds 90 (Rule of 90).  
 
Normal retirement date is further qualified to require that all members employed on or after 
January 1, 1983, must have six or more years of full-time equivalent employment with a 
participating employer before being eligible to receive benefits.  Credited service is the sum of 
participating and prior service.  Prior service includes nonparticipating service before January 1, 
1975, or the entry date of the employer and active wartime military service.  
 
A member with a minimum of ten years of participating service may elect early retirement with 
reduced benefits beginning at age 55 if the participant became a member prior to November 1, 
2011, or age 60 if the participant became a member on or after November 1, 2011.  
 
Benefits are calculated for each member category as follows: 
 
 Employees 

 
   Benefits are determined at 2% of the average annual salary received during the 

highest 36 months of the last ten years of participating service, but not to exceed the 
applicable annual salary cap, multiplied by the number of years of credited service.  
Members who join OPERS on or after July 1, 2013, will have their salary averaged 
over the highest 60 months of the last ten years.  Normal retirement age under the 
Plan is 62 or Rule of 80/90 if the participant became a member prior to November 1, 
2011, or age 65 or Rule of 90 if the participant became a member on or after 
November 1, 2011.  
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Note 7: Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Benefits provided (Continued) 
 

 Members who elect to pay the additional contribution rate, which became available in 
January 2004, will receive benefits using a 2.5% computation factor for each full year 
the additional contributions are made.  In 2004, legislation was enacted to provide an 
increased benefit to retiring members who were not yet eligible for Medicare.  The 
Medicare Gap benefit option became available to members under age 65 who retired 
on or after May 1, 2006.  Members may elect to receive a temporary increased 
benefit to cover the cost of health insurance premiums until the member is eligible to 
receive Medicare.  After the member becomes eligible for Medicare, the retirement 
benefit will be permanently reduced by an actuarially determined amount. 

 
 The option is irrevocable, must be chosen prior to retirement and is structured to 

have a neutral actuarial cost to the Plan.  
 

 Members become eligible to vest fully upon termination of employment after attaining 
eight years of credited service, or the members’ contributions may be withdrawn 
upon termination of employment. 

 
Disability retirement benefits are available for members having eight years of credited service 
whose disability status has been certified as being within one year of the last day on the job by 
the Social Security Administration.  Disability retirement benefits are determined in the same 
manner as retirement benefits, but payable immediately without an actuarial reduction. 
 
Upon the death of an active member, the accumulated contributions of the member are paid to 
the member’s named beneficiary(ies) in a single lump sum payment.  If a retired member 
elected a joint annuitant survivor option or an active member was eligible to retire with either 
reduced or unreduced benefits or eligible to vest the retirement benefit at the time of death, 
benefits can be paid in monthly payments over the life of the spouse if the spouse so elects. 
 
Upon the death of a retired member, the Plan will pay a $5,000 death benefit to the member’s 
beneficiary or estate of the member if there is no living beneficiary.  The death benefit will be 
paid in addition to any excess employee contributions or survivor benefits due to the beneficiary.  
 
Contributions  
 
The contribution rates for each member category of the Plan are established by the Oklahoma 
Legislature after recommendation by the Board based on an actuarial calculation, which is 
performed to determine the adequacy of such contribution rates.  Employees are required to 
contribute 5% percent of their annual pay.  Participating entities are required to contribute 15% 
of the employees’ annual pay.  Contributions to the pension plan from the Authority were 
$220,485. 
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Note 7: Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions  
 
At June 30, 2024, the Authority reported a liability of $341,254, for its proportionate share of the 
net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total 
pension asset used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of July 1, 2023.  The Authority’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on 
the Authority’s contributions received by the pension plan relative to the total contributions 
received by pension plan for all participating employers as of June 30, 2023.  Based upon this 
information, the Authority’s proportion was 0.07458767 percent. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2024, the Authority recognized pension expense of $204,150.  At 
June 30, 2024, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

 

Differences between expected and 
actual experience $ 9,362           $ 5,169           

Changes of assumptions 72,091         -                   

Net difference between projected 
and actual earnings on pension 
plan investments 283,674       -                   

SWODA’s contributions subsequent
to the measurement date 219,125       -                   

     Total $ 584,252       $ 5,169           

2024

ResourcesResources

Deferred
 Inflows of

Deferred
Outflows of



South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 
 
 

26 

Note 7: Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued) 
 
As of June 30, 2024, $219,125, was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to 
pensions resulting from Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be 
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2024.  Other 
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Actuarial Assumptions  
 
The total pension liability as of June 30, 2024, was determined based on an actuarial valuation 
prepared as of July 1, 2023, using the following actuarial assumptions:  
 

 Investment return - 6.50% for 2023 and 2022 compounded annually net of investment 
expense and including inflation. 

 Salary increases - 3.5% to 9.25% for 2023 and 2022. 
 Mortality rates - In 2023 and 2022, Pub-2010 Below Media, General Membership 

Active/Retiree Healthy Mortality Table with base rates projected to 2030 using Scale 
MP-2019.  Male rates are unadjusted, and female rates are set forward two years. 

 No annual post-retirement benefit increases. 
 Assumed inflation rate - 2.50% for 2023 and 2022. 
 Payroll growth - 3.25% for 2023 and 2022. 
 Actuarial cost method - Entry age. 
 Select period for the termination of employment assumptions - 10 years. 

 
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2023, valuations are based on the results of the 
most recent actuarial experience study, which cover the three-year period ending June 30, 
2022.  The experience study report is dated April 12, 2023. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return 
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage 
and by adding expected inflation. 

Year Ended June 30:
2024 $ 100,565       
2025 14,287         
2026 309,770       
2027 (64,664)        
   Total $ 359,958       

Outflows
Deferred
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Note 7: Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions (Continued)  
 
The Target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major 
asset class as of June 30, 2024, are summarized in the following table: 
 

Discount Rate  
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.50%.  The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and 
the employers will be made at the current contribution rate as set out in state statute.  Based on 
those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected 
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  The discount rate determined does not 
use a municipal bond rate. 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate  
 
The following presents the net pension liability of the employers calculated using the discount 
rate of 6.50%, as well as what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using 
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.50%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.50%) 
than the current rate: 
 

Pension plan fiduciary net position  
 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately 
issued financial report of the OPERS; which can be located at www.opers.ok.gov. 

Employers' net pension liability $ 1,318,133    $ 341,254       $ (480,130)      

1% Decrease Current 1% Increase 

Long Term
Expected

Target Rental Rate
Asset Class Allocation of Return
U.S. Large Cap Equity 34.0% 5.10%
U.S. Small Cap Equity 6.0% 5.10%
Global Equity ex-US 28.0% 8.20%
Core Fixed Income 25.0% 1.90%
Long Term Treasuries 3.5% 2.10%
US Tips 3.5% 1.80%
     Total 100.0%
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Note 8: Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 
 
Plan description  
 
The Authority as the employer, participates in the Supplemental Health Insurance Program-a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the Oklahoma Public 
Employees Retirement System (OPERS).  The authority to establish and amend benefit 
provisions rests with the State Legislature.  OPERS issues a publicly available financial report 
that can be obtained at www.opers.ok.gov. 
 
Benefits provided  
 
OPERS pays a medical insurance supplement to eligible members who elect to maintain health 
insurance with the Oklahoma Employees Group Insurance Division (EGID) or other qualified 
insurance plan provided by the employer.  This subsidy continues until the retiree terminates 
health insurance coverage with EGID or other qualified plan, or until death.  The subsidy is only 
for the retiree, not joint annuitants or beneficiaries.  The supplement payment is capped at $105 
per month per retiree. 
 
Contributions  
 
The contribution rates for each member category of the System are established by the 
Oklahoma Legislature after recommendation by the Board based on an actuarial calculation, 
which is performed to determine the adequacy of such contribution rates.  An actuarially 
determined portion of the total contributions to the System are set aside to finance the cost of 
the benefits of the HISP in accordance with provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.  Based on 
the contribution requirements of the plan employers and employees contribute a single amount 
based on a single contribution rate as described in Note 7; from this amount OPERS allocates a 
portion of the contributions to the supplemental health insurance program.  Contributions 
allocated to the OPEB plan from the Authority were $12,495. 
 
OPEB Liabilities (Assets), OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and 
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB  
 
At June 30, 2024, the Authority reported an asset of $95,226 for its proportionate share of the 
net OPEB asset.  The net OPEB asset was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total OPEB 
liability used to calculate the net OPEB asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
June 30, 2023.  The Authority’s proportion of the net OPEB asset was based on the Authority’s 
contributions received by the OPEB plan relative to the total contributions received by the OPEB 
plan for all participating employers as of June 30, 2023.  Based upon this information, the 
Authority’s proportion was .07458767 percent. 
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Note 8: Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 
 
OPEB Liabilities (Assets), OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and 
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB (Continued) 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2024, the Authority recognized OPEB revenue of $5,354.  At June 
30, 2024, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

The $12,495 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from the 
Authority’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net OPEB liability (asset) in the year ended June 30, 2024.  Other amounts reported as 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be 
recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Actuarial Assumptions  
 
The total pension liability was determined based on actuarial valuations prepared as of July 1, 
2023, using the following actuarial assumptions: 
 

 Investment return - 6.50% for 2023 and 2022 compounded annually net of investment 
expense and including inflation. 

 Salary increases - 3.5% to 9.25% for 2023 and 2022. 

Differences between expected and actual experience $ -                   $ 34,101         
Changes of assumptions 6,156           -                   
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
  on pension plan investments 17,812         -                   

SWODA’s contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date 12,495         -                   

          Total $ 36,463         $ 34,101         

2024

Resources Resources

Deferred
Outflows of

Deferred
Inflows of

Year Ended June 30:
2023 $ (5,101)                   
2024 (4,264)                   
2025 5,107                    
2026 (4,612)                   
2027 (1,264)                   
  Total $ (10,134)                 

Outflows
Deferred
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Note 8: Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 
 

 Mortality rates - In 2023 and 2022, Pub-2010 Below Media, General Membership 
Active/Retiree Healthy Mortality Table with base rates projected to 2030 using Scale 
MP-2019.  Male rates are unadjusted, and female rates are set forward two years. 

 No annual post-retirement benefit increases. 
 Assumed inflation rate - 2.50% for 2023 and 2022. 
 Payroll growth - 3.25% for 2023 and 2022. 
 Actuarial cost method - Entry age. 
 Select period for the termination of employment assumptions - 10 years. 
 Health Care Trend Rate - Not applicable based on how the System is structured and 

benefit payments are made. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2023 valuation are based on the results of the 
most recent actuarial experience study, which covered the three-year period ending June 30, 
2019.  The experience study report is dated April 12, 2023. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return 
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage 
and by adding expected inflation. 
 
The Target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major 
asset class as of June 30, 2024, are summarized in the following table: 
 

 
 
 
 

Long Term
Expected

Target Rental Rate
Asset Class Allocation of Return
U.S. Large Cap Equity 34.0% 5.10%
U.S. Small Cap Equity 6.0% 5.10%
Global Equity ex-US 28.0% 8.20%
Core Fixed Income 25.0% 1.90%
Long Term Treasuries 3.5% 2.10%
US Tips 3.5% 1.80%
     Total 100.0%
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Note 8: Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 
 
Discount Rate 
 
A single discount rate of 6.50% was used to measure the total OPRB liability (asset) as of June 
30, 2024.  This single discount rate was based solely on the expected rate of return on OPEB 
plan investments of 6.50%.  Based on the stated assumptions and the projection of cash flows, 
the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position and future contributions were projected to be available to 
finance all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods of projected 
benefit payments to determine the total OPEB liability (asset).  
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Discount Rate 
 
The following presents the net OPEB liability (asset) of the employer calculated using the 
discount rate of 6.50%, as well as what the Plan's net OPEB liability (asset) would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.50%) or 1-percentage-point 
higher (7.50%) than the current rate: 
 

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position  
 
Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately 
issued financial report of the OPERS; which can be located at www.opers.ok.gov. 
 
 
Note 9: Non-Current Liabilities 
 
Non-current liability transactions for the year ended June 30, 2024, were as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 

Beginning Increases Decreases Ending Amounts 
Governmental activities
Net pension liability $ -                 $ 340,906     $ -                 $ 340,906     $ -                 
Total governmental activities -                 340,906     -                 340,906     -                 

Business-Type activities
Net pension liability -                 348            -                 348            -                 
Total business-type activities -                 348            -                 348            -                 

Total non-current liabilities $ -                 $ 341,254     $ -                 $ 341,254     $ -                 

Employers' net pension
liability (asset) $ (69,845)        $ (95,226)        $ (116,809)      

1% Decrease Current 1% Increase 
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Note 10: Risk Management 
 
The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, property damage, errors and 
omissions and personal injury.  The Authority has insurance for the major risks such as 
property, general liability, worker’s compensation and unemployment.  Commercial insurance is 
used to cover general liability claims and the risk of loss to the Authority’s property and 
equipment. 
 
 
Note 11: Allocation of Indirect Costs 
 
The Authority’s indirect costs are allocated to all programs based upon actual employee salaries 
and fringe benefits expended.  Expenses related to the Authority’s office building are allocated 
on the basis of the square footage occupied by each program. 
 
 
Note 12: Commitments and Contingencies 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Authority awarded several REAP grants to cities and 
towns within its service area that have not expended as of June 30, 2024.  Of the awarded 
grants totaling for 2022 REAP grants awarded totaling $1,470,125, the balance of those funds 
unexpended at June 30, 2024 is $39,745, for 2023 REAP grant awarded totaling $2,590,909, 
the balance of those funds unexpended at June 30, 2024 is $377,816 and 2024 REAP grant 
awarded totaling $2,590,909, the balance of those funds unexpended at June 30, 2024 is 
$2,478,303. 
 
The remaining unexpended commitment from the Masonic Temple contribution is $27,637 as of 
June 30, 2024.  
 
Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by 
grantor agencies.  Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a 
liability to the Authority.  The amount, if any, of expenditures that may be disallowed by the 
grantor cannot be determined at this time, although the Authority expects such amounts, if any, 
to be immaterial. 
 
The Authority employees can carryover unused sick leave from one program year to the next.  
Employees are not compensated for unused sick leave at the time of termination of 
employment.  However, upon retirement, an employee can possibly convert up to 480 hours of 
unused sick leave to retirement benefits with OPERS to help buy an extra year of benefits.  If 
such a situation exists, then the Authority would pay OPERS the number of hours up to 480 
hours times the employee’s pay rate.  
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Other Supplementary Information 
 



Assets
Cash $ (34,243)        $ (68,604)        $ (2,837)          $ (50,716)        $ 318,922       $ (45,192)        $ (53,010)        $ 64,320         
Investments -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Accounts receivable 41,652         10,000         11,167         128,620       116,667       47,424         62,798         418,328       
Prepaid expense -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Due from Other Fund -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total Assets $ 7,409           $ (58,604)        $ 8,330           $ 77,904         $ 435,589       $ 2,232           $ 9,788           $ 482,648       

Liabilities
Accounts payable and Accrued exp. $ 7,409           $ 161              $ 4,964           $ 77,904         $ 25,918         $ 1,917           $ 9,743           $ 128,016       
Due to other fund -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Unearned revenue -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total Liabilities 7,409           161              4,964           77,904         25,918         1,917           9,743           128,016       

Fund Balance
Nonspendable -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Restricted -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Assigned -                   (58,765)        3,366           -                   409,671       315              45                354,632       
Unassigned -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Total Fund Balance -                   (58,765)        3,366           -                   409,671       315              45                354,632       

Total Liabilities and 
Fund Balance $ 7,409           $ (58,604)        $ 8,330           $ 77,904         $ 435,589       $ 2,232           $ 9,788           $ 482,648       

June 30, 2024
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Balance Sheet
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority

CENA

Total Other 
Government 

FundsHRSASORTPO
Rural Fire 
Defense

Community 
Improvement 

Planning SUPTR COSSAP
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Revenues
Federal grants $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ 634,675       $ -                   $ 144,967       $ 263,660       $ 1,043,302    
State grants and appropriations 170,638       -                   100,000       -                   700,000       -                   -                   970,638       
Local charges and services -                   200              450              -                   -                   -                   -                   650              
Members’ dues and Assessments -                   69,500         -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   69,500         
Interest revenue -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Match revenue 219              -                   -                   41,481         -                   -                   -                   41,700         

Total Revenues 170,857       69,700         100,450       676,156       700,000       144,967       263,660       2,125,790    

Expenses
Salaries 4,716           480              47,791         148,773       198,481       28,621         78,415         507,277       
Taxes and fringe benefits 2,074           219              22,766         60,997         89,163         12,552         38,116         225,887       
Indirect costs 1,630           168              16,876         50,345         68,929         9,957           27,978         175,883       
Travel 66                491              5,531           16,447         24,042         2,103           9,215           57,895         
Other expense 265              15,534         4,120           335,165       203,889       91,419         109,891       760,283       
Program costs -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Pass-through grants 162,106       -                   -                   64,429         -                   -                   -                   226,535       

Total Expenses 170,857       16,892         97,084         676,156       584,504       144,652       263,615       1,953,760    

Net Change in Fund
Balances -                   52,808         3,366           -                   115,496       315              45                172,030       

Fund Balances,
Beginning of Year -                   (111,573)      -                   -                   294,175       -                   -                   182,602       

Fund Balances,
End of Year $ -                   $ (58,765)        $ 3,366           $ -                   $ 409,671       $ 315              $ 45                $ 354,632       

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority

CENA

Total Other 
Government 

FundsHRSASORTPO
Rural Fire 
Defense

Community 
Improvement 

Planning SUPTR COSSAP

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report. 34



Assets
Cash $ (1,012)             $ (1,012)             
Investments -                      -                      
Accounts receivable 5,716              5,716              
Prepaid expense -                      -                      
Due from Other Fund -                      -                      
Total Assets $ 4,704              $ 4,704              

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expense $ 4,704              $ 4,704              
Due to other fund -                      -                      
Unearned revenue -                      -                      
Total Liabilities 4,704              4,704              

Fund Balance
Nonspendable -                      -                      
Restricted -                      -                      
Assigned -                      -                      
Unassigned -                      -                      
Total Fund Balance -                      -                      

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance $ 4,704              $ 4,704              

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Combining Balance Sheet

Economic Development Funds
June 30, 2024

Economic 
Development

Total           
ED Funds

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report. 35



Revenues
Federal grants $ 71,447            $ 71,447            
State grants and appropriations -                      -                      
Local charges and services -                      -                      
Members’ dues and assessments -                      -                      
Interest revenue -                      -                      
Match revenue 39,698            39,698            

Total Revenues 111,145          111,145          

Expenses
Salaries 59,352            59,352            
Taxes and fringe benefits 25,553            25,553            
Indirect costs 20,320            20,320            
Travel 2,472              2,472              
Other expense 3,448              3,448              
Program costs -                      -                      
Pass-through grants -                      -                      

Total Expenses 111,145          111,145          

Net Change in Fund
Balances -                      -                      

Fund Balances,
Beginning of Year -                      -                      

Fund Balances,
End of Year $ -                      $ -                      

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Economic Development Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Economic 
Development

Total           
ED Funds

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report. 36



Indirect salaries $ 200,222          
Employee benefits 124,474          
Indirect personnel costs 324,696          

Building expense 45,117            
Travel costs 18,459            
Utilities and communications -                      
Advertising and promotional 9,301              
Supplies 11,250            
Computer expenses 11,481            
Professional services 25,000            
Other expenses 21,766            

Total Indirect Costs $ 467,070          

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Schedule of Indirect Costs

June 30, 2024

Indirect costs were allocated at a rate of 24% throughout the year ending June 30, 2024. 

Indirect      
Costs

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report. 37
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OPERS
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability 0.07459% 0.06089% 0.06083%
Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 341,254       $ 511,799       $ (816,422)      
Authority's covered-employee payroll $ 1,241,247    $ 1,229,521    $ 1,157,849    
Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 27% 42% -71%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability 95.91% 92.24% 112.51%

OPERS
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability 0.05567% 0.05711% 0.06049%
Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 492,238       $ 76,070         $ 117,979       
Authority's covered-employee payroll $ 1,116,286    $ 1,012,268    $ 995,942       
Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 44% 8% 12%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability 91.59% 98.63% 97.96%

OPERS
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability 0.06395% 0.06412%
Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 345,734       $ 636,223       
Authority's covered-employee payroll $ 1,005,034    $ 1,152,965    
Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 34% 55%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability 94.28% 96.00%

*Note - Only eight fiscal years are presented because 10-year data is not available

2018

2021 2020 2019

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

2017

Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Last 10 Fiscal Years*
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority

202220232024

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report. 38



OPERS
Contractually required contribution $ 220,485       $ 172,051       $ 167,145       
Contributions in relation to the contractually

required contribution 220,485       172,051       167,145       
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   

Authority's covered-employee payroll $ 1,241,247    $ 1,229,521    $ 1,157,849    
Contributions as a percentage of covered-

employee payroll 17.76% 13.99% 14.44%

OPERS
Contractually required contribution $ 152,682       $ 150,321       $ 156,293       
Contributions in relation to the contractually

required contribution 152,682       150,321       156,293       
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   

Authority's covered-employee payroll $ 1,116,286    $ 1,012,268    $ 995,942       
Contributions as a percentage of covered-

employee payroll 13.68% 14.85% 15.69%

OPERS
Contractually required contribution $ 172,013       $ 190,068       
Contributions in relation to the contractually

required contribution 172,013       190,068       
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -                   $ -                   

Authority's covered-employee payroll $ 1,005,034    $ 1,152,965    
Contributions as a percentage of covered-

employee payroll 17.12% 16.49%

*Note - Only eight fiscal years are presented because 10-year data is not available

2020 2019

2018

2021

2022

2017

2023

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
Schedule of Pension Contributions - Last 10 Fiscal Years*

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority

2024

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report. 39



OPERS
Authority's proportion of the net OPEB liability (asset) 0.07459% 0.06089% 0.05567% 0.05567%
Authority's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) $ (95,226)        $ (56,983)        $ (83,629)        $ (26,101)        
Authority's covered-employee payrol $ 1,241,250    $ 1,229,521    $ 1,157,849    $ 1,116,286    
Authority's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset)

as a percentage of its covered-employee payrol -7.67% -4.63% -7.22% -2.34%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total OPEB liability (asset) 141.38% 130.01% 142.87% 114.27%

OPERS
Authority's proportion of the net OPEB liability (asset) 0.05711% 0.06049% 0.06395%
Authority's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) $ (22,203)        $ (7,827)          $ 7,324           
Authority's covered-employee payrol $ 1,116,286    $ 1,012,268    $ 995,942       
Authority's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset)

as a percentage of its covered-employee payrol -1.99% -0.77% 0.74%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total OPEB liability (asset) 112.11% 103.94% 96.50%

*Note - Only seven fiscal years are presented because 10-year data is not available

2018

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) - Last 10 Fiscal Years*

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

2019

2021202220232024

2020

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report. 40



OPERS 2024 2023 2022 2021
Contractually required contribution $ 12,495         $ 10,098         $ 10,752         $ 10,709         
Contributions in relation to the contractually

required contribution 12,495         10,098         10,752         10,709         
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   

Authority's covered-employee payroll $ 1,241,250    $ 1,229,521    $ 1,157,849    $ 1,116,286    
Contributions as a percentage of covered-

employee payroll 1.01% 0.82% 0.93% 0.96%

OPERS 2020 2019 2018
Contractually required contribution $ 10,706         $ 11,382         $ 12,040         
Contributions in relation to the contractually

required contribution 10,706         11,382         12,040         
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   

Authority's covered-employee payroll $ 1,012,268    $ 995,942       $ 1,005,034    
Contributions as a percentage of covered-

employee payroll 1.06% 1.14% 96.50%

*Note - Only seven fiscal years are presented because 10-year data is not available.

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Schedule of OPEB Contributions - Last 10 Fiscal Years*

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

See accompanying Independent Auditor's Report. 41



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reports Required by Government Auditing Standards  
and Uniform Guidance 

 
 
 



 

 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control  

over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 
Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed  

in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Burns Flat, Oklahoma 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the South Western Oklahoma Development Authority, as of and for 
the year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s 
basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated November 
12, 2024. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority's internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of South Western 
Oklahoma Development Authority’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a 
timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  
 

5028 E. 101st Street

Tulsa, OK 74137
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Board of Trustees 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose 
described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 
in internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were 
not identified.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether South Western Oklahoma 
Development Authority's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we 
performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and accordingly, we do not express such 
an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters 
that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
 
Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 
 
 
 
Tulsa, Oklahoma 
November 12, 2024 
 
 



Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal 
Program: Report on Internal Control over Compliance; and  

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards  
Required by the Uniform Guidance 

Board of Trustees 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Burns Flat, Oklahoma 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
We have audited South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s compliance 
with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the 
OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on 
each of South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s major federal 
programs for the year ended June 30, 2024.  South Western Oklahoma 
Development Authority’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of 
auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs. 

In our opinion, South Western Oklahoma Development Authority complied, in all 
material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that could 
have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the 
year ended June 30, 2024. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S.  Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Our responsibilities 
under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.  

We are required to be independent of South Western Oklahoma Development 
Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion on compliance for each major federal program.  Our audit does not 
provide a legal determination of South Western Oklahoma Development 
Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
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Board of Trustees 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Page 2 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant 
agreements applicable to South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s federal programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with 
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and 
express an opinion on South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s compliance based on 
our audit.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when 
it exists.  The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for 
that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of 
the report on compliance about South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s compliance 
with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Uniform Guidance, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding South Western Oklahoma
Development Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to
above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

 Obtain an understanding of South Western Oklahoma Development Authority’s internal
control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over
compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of South Western Oklahoma Development
Authority’s internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 



Board of Trustees 
South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Page 3 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed 
to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance.  Given these limitations, during our 
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to 
be material weaknesses, as defined above.  However, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose.  

Tulsa, Oklahoma 
November 12, 2024 



Federal Pass-Through
Federal Grantor/ Assistance Entity Expenditures

Pass-Through Grantor/ Listing Identifying Federal to
Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures Subrecipients

FEDERAL PROGRAMS

U.S. Department of Justice
Direct Program - 

COSSAP 16.838 15PBJA-21-GG-04585-COAP 144,652$         -$                    
Total U.S. Department of Justice 144,652           -                      

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
  Pass-Through Program From:
      Oklahoma Department of Human Services
          Aging Cluster
              Area Agency on Aging Title III Part B 93.044 134,206           75,234            
              Area Agency on Aging Title III Part C 93.045 496,741           444,658          
              Area Agency on Aging NSIP ( formerly USDA) 93.053 33,244             33,244            
                Subtotal Aging Cluster 664,191           553,136          

            Other Programs
              Area Agency on Aging Title III Part D 93.043 2,737               2,737              
              Area Agency on Aging Title III Part E 93.052 63,565             35,708            
              Area Agency on Aging Title VII 93.041 1,500               -                      
                  Subtotal Other Programs 67,802             38,445            
                Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 731,993           591,581          

U.S. Department of Transportation
  Pass-Through Program From:
    Oklahoma Department of Transportation -
           Rural Transportation Planning FY24 20.205 SPRY0010(093), JP 01946(89) 130,072           7,192              
           Rural Transportation Planning FY23 20.205 SPRY0010(090), JP 01946(86) 100,282           57,237            
           Mobility Management Pilot Funds FY24 20.513 FTA5310-TP23(026),36416(04) 74,153             -                      
           Mobility Management Pilot Funds FY23 20.513 FTA5310-TP23(027), JP 36416(05) 22,474             -                      

    Federal Highway Administration 20.933 693JJ32340007 307,694           -                      
                Total U.S. Department of Transportation 634,675           64,429            

U.S. Health Resources & Services Administration
  Direct Program -

Rural Communities Opioid Response (Implementation) 93.912 1 GA1RH39599-01-00 263,615           -                      
263,615           -                      

U.S. Department of Commerce
  Direct Program -
        Title II, Section 203 Planning Assistance: Continuation planning 11.302 ED17AUS3020015 71,447             -                      
               Total U.S. Department of Commerce 71,447             -                      

               Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 1,846,382$      656,010$        

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

June 30, 2024

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards. 47



South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

June 30, 2024 
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Note A: Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the 
federal awards activity of the Authority for the year ended June 30, 2024.  The information in 
this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Because the Schedule presents only a 
selected portion of the operations of the Authority, it is not intended to and does not present the 
financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the Authority. 
 
 
Note B: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

1. Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.  
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement.  The Authority has not elected to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect 
cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance. 
 

2. The Authority has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis cost rate allowed under 
Section 200.414(f) of the Uniform Guidance. 

 
 
 
 



Pass-Through
Federal Grantor/ Entity

Pass-Through Grantor/ Identifying
Program or Cluster Title Number Expenditures

STATE PROGRAMS
Oklahoma Department of Commerce
    Substate Planning District 19313 SS 24 13,636$             

    Community Expansion of Nutritional Assistance 19236 CENA 24 169,940             
    Community Expansion of Nutritional Assistance 19411 CENA 23 698                    

    Rural Economic Action Plans 17957 REAP 21 133,095             
18298 REAP 22 510,886             
18722 REAP 23 1,571,600          
19304 REAP 24 158,902             

                    Subtotal Oklahoma Department of Commerce programs 2,374,483          

                    Total Oklahoma Department of Commerce 2,558,757          

Oklahoma Department of Agriculture
    Rural Fire Defense Program FY 2024 97,084               
                    Total Oklahoma Department of Agriculture 97,084               

Oklahoma Department of Human Services
            Area Agency on Aging Cluster
                 Area Agency on Aging Title III Part B FY 2024 80,804               
                 Area Agency on Aging Title III Part C FY 2024 246,367             
                 Area Agency on Aging Title III Part E FY 2024 19,766               
                 Area Agency on Aging Title VII FY 2024 1,265                 
                 Area Agency on Aging HB 4466 FY 2024 275,075             
                    Total Oklahoma Department of Human Services 623,277             

ADRC FY 2024 932                    

                    Total Expenditures of State Awards 3,280,050$        

South Western Oklahoma Development Authority
Schedule of Expenditures of State Awards

June 30, 2024

49



South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 
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Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 
1. The type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements audited were 

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAP) was: 

 
  Unmodified   Qualified   Adverse   Disclaimed 

 
2. The independent auditor’s report on internal control over financial reporting disclosed: 
 

Significant deficiencies?   Yes   None Reported 
 

Material weaknesses?   Yes   No 
 
3. Noncompliance considered material to the financial statements was 

disclosed by the audit?    Yes   No 
 
4. The independent auditor’s report on internal control over compliance for major federal 

awards programs disclosed: 
 

Significant deficiencies?   Yes   None Reported 
 

Material weakness?   Yes   No 
 
5. The opinion expressed in the independent auditor’s report for major federal awards was: 
 

  Unmodified   Qualified   Adverse   Disclaimed 
 
6. The audit disclosed findings required to be reported  

by Uniform Guidance, 2 CFR 200.516(a)?   Yes   No 
 
7. The Authority’s major program was: 
 

Cluster/Program  CFDA Number 
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster: 

Area Agency on Aging Title III Part D  93.044 
Area Agency on Aging Title III Part E  93.052 
Area Agency on Aging Title VII  93.041 
   

 



South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 
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Summary of Auditor’s Results (Continued) 
 
8. The threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs as those terms are 

defined in the Uniform Guidance was $750,000. 
 
9. Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee as that term is defined in 

the Uniform Guidance.    Yes   No 
 
 
Section II-Findings Required to be Reported in Accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards 
 
None to report for the June 30, 2024 period. 
 
 
Section III-Findings Required to be Reported in Accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance 
 
None to report for the June 30, 2024 period. 
 



South Western Oklahoma Development Authority 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

June 30, 2024 
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Findings Required to be Reported by the Uniform Guidance 
 
No matters are reportable. 




